
 

 

Waverley Borough Council 
Council Offices, The Burys,  
Godalming, Surrey 
GU7 1HR 
www.waverley.gov.uk 
  

To: All Members and Substitute Members of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee - 
Services 
(Other Members for Information) 
 

When calling please ask for: 

Kimberly Soane, 
Kimberly.soane@waverley.gov.uk 

Legal & Democratic Services 

E-mail: Kimberly.soane@waverley.gov.uk 

Direct line: 01483523258 

Date: 10 May 2024 

 
Membership of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee - Services 

Cllr Carole Cockburn (Chair) 
Cllr Philip Townsend (Vice Chair) 
Cllr Jane Austin 
Cllr Dave Busby 
Cllr George Hesse 

Cllr Jacquie Keen 
Cllr Gemma Long 
Cllr David Munro 
Cllr John Robini 
Cllr Graham White 

 
Substitutes 

Cllr Kevin Deanus Cllr James Staunton 
 

Members who are unable to attend this meeting must submit apologies by the 
end of Monday, 13 May 2024 to enable a substitute to be arranged. 

 
Dear Councillor, 
 
A meeting of the Overview AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - SERVICES will be held as 
follows:  
 

Date: Wednesday, 22 MAY 2024 

Time: 7.00 PM 

Place: Committee ROOM 1, COUNCIL OFFICES, THE BURYS, 
GODALMING 

 
The agenda for the meeting is set out below. 
 
The meeting can be viewed remotely via Waverley Borough Council’s YouTube channel 
or by visiting www.waverley.gov.uk/webcast. 
 
Yours sincerely,  
 
Susan Sale 
Executive Head of Legal & Democratic Services & Monitoring Officer 
 

Agendas are available to download from Waverley’s website 
(www.waverley.gov.uk/committees), where you can also subscribe to 

https://www.youtube.com/@WaverleyBorough/streams
http://www.waverley.gov.uk/webcast
http://www.waverley.gov.uk/committees


 

 

updates to receive information via email regarding arrangements for 
particular committee meetings.  

 
Alternatively, agendas may be downloaded to a mobile device via the free 
Modern.Gov app, available for iPad, Android, Windows and Kindle Fire. 

 
Most of our publications can be provided in alternative formats. For an 

audio version, large print, text only or a translated copy of this publication, 
please contact committees@waverley.gov.uk or call 01483 523351 

 
This meeting will be webcast and can be viewed by visiting 

www.waverley.gov.uk/webcast  

 
Waverley Corporate Strategy 2020 - 2025 

 
Vision 
 
Our vision is that Waverley will be environmentally, economically and 
financially sustainable with healthy, inclusive communities and housing 
available for all who need it. 
 
Our strategic priorities:  

 Local, open, participative government  

 Supporting a strong, resilient local economy 

 Taking action on Climate Emergency and protecting the environment 

 Good quality housing for all income levels and age groups 

 Effective strategic planning and development management to meet 

the needs of our communities 

 Improving the health and wellbeing of our residents and communities 

 Financial sustainability 

 
Good scrutiny: 

 

 is an independent, Member-led function working towards the delivery 
of the Council’s priorities and plays an integral part in shaping and 
improving the delivery of services in the Borough; 

 provides a critical friend challenge to the Executive to help support, 
prompt reflection and influence how public services are delivered; 

 is led by ‘independent minded governors’ who take ownership of the 
scrutiny process; and, 

mailto:committees@waverley.gov.uk
http://www.waverley.gov.uk/webcast


 

 

 amplifies the voices and concerns of the public and acts as a key 
mechanism connecting the public to the democratic process. 
 
 

 
 

NOTES FOR MEMBERS 
 

Members are reminded that contact officers are shown at the end of each report and 
members are welcome to raise questions etc in advance of the meeting with the 
appropriate officer. 

 
AGENDA 

 
1   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTION   
  
 To receive apologies for absence and note substitutions. 

 
Members who are unable to attend this meeting must submit apologies by the 
end of Monday 13 May 2024 to enable a substitute to be arranged, if 
applicable. 
 

2   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
  
 To receive from Members declarations of interests in relation to any items 

included on the agenda for this meeting, in accordance with Waverley’s Code 
of Local Government. 
 

3   ROUTE TO MARKET FOR OFF-STREET CAR PARKING ENFORCEMENT  
(Pages 5 - 22) 

 [Portfolio Holder: Councillor Tony Fairclough] 
  [Wards Affected: All Wards] 
  
 Waverley Borough Council’s (the Council) contract for off-street car parking 

enforcement with its current provider (Marston’s Group NSL) expires on the 
30th of September 2024, after a short term 6 month contract extension was 
approved so Waverley Borough Council could review the options available. 
There are a number of options available to the Council for providing this 
service once the contract with NSL expires. A project has been undertaken by 
the Business Transformation team (Waverley Borough Council), car parking 
teams, and enabling services at both the Council and Guildford Borough 
Council to explore opportunities to work collaboratively to provide this service. 
This report sets out the process followed to explore all options and makes 
recommendations to the Executive. The exempt appendices attached provide 
more detail on the options. 
 
Recommendation 
 
That the Services O&S Committee consider and comment on the report and 
make recommendations to the Executive. 
 



 

 

Please note the appendices to this report are Exempt and should only be 
discussed if the committee goes into exempt session. 
 

4   EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC   
  
 To consider, if necessary, the following recommendation on the motion of the 

Chairman: 
 
Recommendation 
 
That pursuant to Procedure Rule 20 and in accordance with Section 100A (4) 
of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and public be excluded from the 
meeting during consideration of the following items on the grounds that it is 
likely in view of the nature of the proceedings, that if members of the public 
were present during the items there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information (as defined by Section 100I of the Act) to be identified at the 
meeting.  
 

5   ANY ISSUES TO BE CONSIDERED IN EXEMPT SESSION   
  
 To consider any matters relating to aspects of any reports on this agenda 

which it is felt need to be considered in Exempt session.  
 

 

    
  Officer contacts: 

Kimberly Soane, Kimberly.soane@waverley.gov.uk 
Tel. 01483523258 or email: Kimberly.soane@waverley.gov.uk 

 

    

 



 

        Waverley Borough Council 
Report to: Executive 

Date: 11 June 2024 

Ward(s) affected: All 

Report of Strategic Director: Dawn Hudd - Place 

Author: Mark Davis, Car Parking Manager 

Tel: 01483 523 432 

Email: mark.davis@waverley.gov.uk 

Executive Portfolio Holder/ Lead Councillor responsible: Councillor Tony 
Fairclough 

Email: tony.fairclough@waverley.gov.uk 

Report Status: Part Exempt 

Key Decision: Yes 

Route to Market for Off-Street Car 
Parking Enforcement 

1 Executive Summary 

Waverley Borough Council’s (the Council) contract for off-street car parking 
enforcement with its current provider (Marston’s Group NSL) expires on 
the 30th of September 2024, after a short term 6 month contract extension 
was approved so Waverley Borough Council could review the options 
available. There are a number of options available to the Council for 
providing this service once the contract with NSL expires. A project has 
been undertaken by the Business Transformation team (Waverley Borough 
Council), car parking teams, and enabling services at both the Council and 
Guildford Borough Council to explore opportunities to work collaboratively 
to provide this service. This report sets out the process followed to explore 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



 

all options and makes recommendations to the Executive. The exempt 
appendices attached provide more detail on the options. 

2 Recommendation to Executive/ Executive Briefing  

That the Executive approves: 

2.1 Option 3 – Guildford Borough Council to deliver Waverley Borough 
Council’s off-street parking compliance enforcement officer function in an 
agreed arrangement as set out in appendix 1. 

2.2 Delegated authority is given to the Strategic Director for Place in 
conjunction with the Portfolio Holder for Parking to enter into the contract 
following the conclusion of the Guildford TUPE negotiations.  This will 
dictate the final contract sum as set out section 11. Financial Implications of 
this report. 

3           Reason(s) for Recommendation:  

3.1 The Council must provide off-street car parking enforcement and the 
current contract ends 30 September 2024. The recommended route to 
market best meets the strategic objectives of the collaboration and offers 
the best value for money to Waverley of all the options set out in this 
paper.  

4           Exemption from publication 

4.1 Following advice from the Procurement team, the exempt 
appendices demonstrate financial modelling.  

The Council recognises that due to the commercial nature of some of its 
business, information may sometimes need to be submitted to a meeting 
which meets the criteria of exempt information. The information set out in 
Appendix 1 is “information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information)” as 
defined in Part 1, Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, is exempt 
and can be withheld from publication and disclosure.  

Page 6



 

This information will only be exempt in accordance with this exemption “if 
and so long, as in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information.”   

The Council acknowledges that if any of the proposed exempt information is 
already in the public domain (including by virtue of having been included in 
any other section of a public report or having been referred to in other public 
statements/media), it cannot be exempt. 

5          Purpose of Report  

5.1 The purpose of this report is to agree a route to market for the 
Council’s off-street car parking enforcement beyond 30 September 2024. 

6          Strategic Priorities  

6.1 The recommended option will fulfil the criteria of Waverley’s 
Corporate Strategy 2020-25: “we will […] be working collaboratively with 
other Surrey councils to secure the best outcome for our residents both 
financially and in terms of locally focused services.” 

6.2 The project fulfils 4 out of 5 of the priorities set out in the Guildford 
Borough Council and Waverley Borough Council Partnership vision and the 
Transformation and Collaboration Strategic Objectives. Please refer to 
section 8 for more information. 

7         Background  

7.1 The Council must provide an off-street car parking enforcement and 
the current contract ends 30 September 2024. This current six-month 
contract was put in place to allow more time to explore all options available 
for the longer-term provision of this service. 

7.2 Each option has been assessed under the five case model for 
business cases as detailed in appendix 1. The option recommended in this 
paper is considered the best value for money by officers for Waverley 
Borough Council after review of all options available. 

Page 7



 

8  Collaboration with Guildford Borough Council 

8.1 In July 2021 Waverley Borough Council and Guildford Borough 
Council agreed to enter a collaboration under section 113(1) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, starting with the appointment of a Joint 
Management Team (JMT) as a way of bringing forward further business 
cases for collaboration and shared services. 

8.2 In November 2023 both Waverley and Guildford Borough Councils 
agreed to begin the Transformation and Collaboration Programme (the 
Programme).  The vision and objectives for the Programme can be found in 
section 8 of this report.  

8.3 The Business Transformation team and Car Parking team at the 
Council have worked closely with colleagues from both councils to identify 
the options available to provide this service and scrutinise them with a view 
to achieving maximum value for money whilst achieving the wider aims of 
the Programme. 

Whilst all objectives will be considered when undertaking collaborative 
projects, the aims most applicable to this project are: 

Vision 

• The two councils will continue to be accountable to their own 
residents (first point). 

In this arrangement Waverley Borough Council will be a client with 
Guildford Borough Council providing the service. There is a defined 
contract specification which will be used to monitor service delivery 
closely whilst remaining accountable to residents for the service.   

• The partnership will help protect and enhance priority services in the 
face of the critical local government funding challenge (second point). 

This will be achieved with through a shared compliance enforcement 
officer team; providing savings for Waverley Borough Council and 
increased resilience for Guildford Borough Council. 

Page 8



 

• The councils will harmonise internal processes and external service 
delivery except when there is a good reason not to (fourth point).  

Guildford Borough Council undertaking this enforcement work for 
Waverley Borough Council harmonises external service delivery and 
provides best value for money as shown in appendix 1.   

• This partnership will form a stable basis for any future collaborative 
discussions (fifth point). 

From closer working with Guildford Borough Council we have already 
improved our negotiating position with the supplier of the back office 
system used. Collaborative arrangements such as the one 
recommended in this report put Waverley Borough Council and 
Guildford Borough Council in a stronger negotiating position in the 
face of future potential local government reorganisation.  

Objectives 

 Bridge budget gaps by making savings (principal objective). 

Waverley Borough Council will receive cost savings through the 
proposed solution.  

 Deliver sustainable and resilient public services (second objective). 

A larger team covering both councils offers better resilience. 

 Realise the aims of the collaboration vision, including the delivery of 
any agreed business cases for further change (fourth objective).  

This project meets the vision as set out above. The case for option 3 can 
be found in appendix 1.  

 Respond to local and national economic challenges in terms of 
services, contracts, and staffing (fifth objective). 

A larger more resilient team will help Guildford and Waverley Borough 
Council face changes to the service and staffing challenges such as staff 
absence or illness. 

Page 9



 

9         Consultations  

9.1 Waverley and Guildford borough council officers have worked 
together to establish potential benefits of a mutually beneficial agreement 
and consulted colleagues from both councils’ Legal, Finance, HR, IT 
procurement and car parking teams. 

9.2 If the recommended option is agreed, any resulting TUPE would be 
between NSL and Guildford Borough Council. Should this be the case, 
Guildford Borough Council would be responsible for following the correct 
TUPE procedures. 

10            Key Risks  

10.1 There is a risk that should a decision not be made in a timely manner; 
the Council will fail to have provision in place for car parking enforcement 
beyond September 2024 due to the mobilisation period of setting up and 
implementing a new agreement. This has been mitigated by the extension 
of the contract with NSL to allow the appropriate timescales for 
mobilisation.  Both Councils now operate the same back-office system 
reducing mobilisation time. 

10.2 There is a risk that the current provider, NSL, challenge the decision 
not to go to full tender. Advice from Procurement provides reassurance 
that the Council has a responsibility to choose the option it deems most 
appropriate following a review of all options.  

11          Financial Implications  

11.1 The financial proposal from Guildford Borough Council offers value 
for money to Waverley Borough Council.  In addition, it also gives greater 
resilience to the service as a combined team will serve both councils. The 
total budget available for enforcement in 2024/25 is £344k. Two options 
have been sent over by Guildford Borough Council. One assuming the 
supervisor role is subject to TUPE from the existing contractor and another 
assuming it is not. The cost of the proposal including the supervisor role is 
budget neutral when comparing to the 2024/25 budget. The cost without 
supervisor is £312k and would result in an annual saving of £32k. The 

Page 10



 

Executive Head of Commercial Services is in conversation with HR at 
Guildford regarding these TUPE arrangements and will update once there is 
a resolution on this issue.  

It is also assumed that GBC will take a more proactive approach to 
enforcement across Waverley car parks. This will either lead to more 
enforcement income from PCN’s or (and preferably) active enforcement 
will encourage users of our car parks to pay the fees due and we will also 
see an increase on car park fee income. 

12          Legal Implications  

12.1 The decision recommended in paragraph 2.1 of this Report is a Key 
Decision of the Council’s Executive to be made in accordance with the 
Council’s Constitution, Part 2, Article 12.3 (b) which can be found at 
the following link: Waverley Constitution Oct 2022 Part 2 Articles 

12.2 Waverley Borough Council and Guildford Borough Council’s respective 
strategies and objectives will achieve Best Value by maximising 
economies of scale and cost efficiencies by entering into the decision 
recommended.  

12.3  Section 112 of the Local Government Act 1972 provides that a local 
authority has a duty to appoint such officers as it thinks necessary to 
enable it to discharge its own functions and any functions which it 
carries out for another local authority. 

12.4 Section 113(1) of the Local Government Act provides that a local 
authority may enter into an agreement with another local authority 
for the placing at the disposal of the latter for the purposes of their 
functions, on such terms as may be provided for in a collaboration 
agreement, of the services of the officers employed by the former. 

12.5 The Council wishes to appoint Guildford Borough Council to provide 
the services, and is entitled to do so by direct award under Regulation 
12 of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (i.e. without open 
competition) as the Teckal exemption applies. With Teckal, open 
advertising and tendering rules do not apply where a public body 

Page 11



 

obtains services from ‘inhouse sources”. This exemption allows 
Waverley and Guildford, as contracting authorities, a greater scope of 
cooperation between themselves provided the tests in Regulation 12 
are met.  Those tests being: 

A) the public body controls the service provider in question as if it was that 
public body’s own department; and 

B) the service provider in question carries out an essential part of its activities 
with the contracting authority which controls that entity. 

The tests are met. 

12.6 Again, section 95 of the Local Government Act 1972 provides 
specifically for local authorities to take part in trading activities with 
other public and private sector bodies, and to do “for a commercial 
purpose, anything which they are authorised to do for the purposes of 
carrying on their ordinary functions”. Awarding this project contract 
to Guildford Borough Council will establish a continued co-operation 
between the Councils in order to carry out a public task for the benefit 
of Borough residents. 

12.7 Legal Officers from both Councils will assist in drawing up the requisite 
Collaboration Agreement for the proposed services. 

13         Human Resource Implications  

13.1 If the recommended option is followed there are no direct HR 
implications for the Council. TUPE (of NSL staff) will be managed by 
Guildford Borough Council.  

14         Equality and Diversity Implications  

14.1 No direct implications arising from this report. 

15         Climate Change/Sustainability Implications  

15.1 In the year 2023-24 the reported carbon emissions for this service 
are 5.45 tonnes of CO2e.  This is based on the 1 small diesel vehicle and 3 

Page 12



 

small petrol/hybrid vehicles NSL have used to provide this service.   The 
carbon emissions have been reducing year on year since their progressive 
switch from petrol and diesel to hybrid vehicles which started in 2020/21.   
To ensure carbon emissions do not increase we would require the 
contractor to utilise similar vehicles with the aim to switch to electric 
vehicles.  There is an expected change in the mileage as the Guildford office 
is more centrally situated than the current Farnham office.  

15.2 Waverley Borough Council currently do not report on the emissions 
for the property associated with this service.  If this is brought inhouse we 
would be required to report on those emissions under our Scope 1 or 2 as 
an additional asset.   

16 Procurement Implications 

16.1 Following advice from Procurement, this report forms an “approval 
of route to market” for collaboration. Each option has been assessed under 
the five-case model for business cases (otherwise known as the treasury 
model) in appendix 1. Best value is not always about cost, although this 
does inform the economic case which is considered alongside the strategic, 
commercial, financial and management cases. This ensures that holistically 
the best option is chosen for Waverley.  

17         Summary of Options  

17.1 Appendix 1 sets out the options available to the Executive for 
provision for off-street car parking enforcement after September 2024. 

18         Conclusion  

18.1 Officers recommend the option that provides best value for money 
and meets the most strategic objectives set by the Transformation and 
Collaboration Programme.  

19  Background Papers  

19.1 None 

Page 13



 

20  Appendices  

20.1 EXEMPT Appendix 1 WBC Options Analysis  

20.2 EXEMPT Appendix 2 Enforcement Specification 

Service Sign off date 

Finance / S.151 Officer 29/04/24 

Legal / Governance GG 
01/05/24 

HR 22/01/24 

Equalities N/A 

Lead Councillor 09/05/24 

CMB  07/05/24 

Executive Briefing 14/05/24  

O&S 22/05/23 

Procurement 05/03/24 

 

Page 14



Document is Restricted

Page 15

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 21

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Route to Market for Off-Street Car Parking Enforcement
	EXEMPT Appendix 1 WBC Options Analysis - Exec Briefing Issue, 14/05/2024 Executive Briefing
	EXEMPT Appendix 2 Waverley Off-Street Enforcement Costs - REVISED & CLEAN, 14/05/2024 Executive Briefing


